FAO LIBRARY AN: 448893

REPORT OF THE

CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE

Rome, Italy, 10-15 October 1960



REPORT

OF THE CONFERENCE FOR EUROPE

Held in Rome 10-15 October 1960

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Rome, Italy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pages
INTRODUCTION	1
Organization of the Conference	1
Opening of the Conference	2
Closing Session of the Conference	3
SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS	5
1. Policy Statement by Mr. B.R. Sen, Director-General	5
2. The relation of prospective developments in Europe to the current world situation and trends in the	
production and consumption of agricultural commodities	7
3. Assistance to less-developed countries	10
4. The Mediterranean Development Project	15
5. Orientation and methods of work of the Organization in Europe	17
6. The Freedom from Hunger Campaign	20
7. Other business	23
(i) Food standards	23
(ii) New epizootics	23
SUMMARY OF RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED BY THE CONFERENCE	25
stall fault group fields from mints state state state state state state.	
ANNEXE 1 - List of participants	27
ANNEXE 2 - Officers of the Conference	47

INTRODUCTION

Organization of the Conference

The Conference for Europe was held at the Headquarters of the Organization in Rome from 10 October to 15 October 1960. The main objectives of the Conference were to provide an opportunity for a broad policy discussion on selected issues of major importance to European countries, such as world problems of food and agriculture in their relation to Europe as well as European participation in the world wide activities of FAO. The Conference was also requested to formulate suggestions concerning the orientation of the Organization's future activities in Europe, to provide guidance to facilitate the Director-General in the preparation of his Program of Work for 1962/63, and thus contribute a useful preparation for the Eleventh Session of the FAO Conference to be held in November 1961.

The Conference was attended by delegations from the following 21 countries:

Austria
Belgium
Denmark
Finland
France
Federal Republic of
Germany
Greece

Ireland
Israel
Italy
Luxembourg

Netherlands

Norway
Poland
Portugal
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland
Turkey

United Kingdom Yugoslavia

The Conference noted that, in accordance with the rules for the admission of observers, the United States of America had notified 14 days in advance its wish to send observers on this occasion.

Having been requested by some other member countries to admit observers although no request had been made before the specified interval, the Conference decided to admit observers from the following member countries outside the European region:

Australia Argentina Brazil Canada Colombia Japan Lebanon

United Arab Republic

Uruguay

The Permanent Observer of the Holy See and observers from the following Organizations were present:

United Nations Economic Commission for Europe International Bank for Reconstruction and Development World Health Organization United Nations Children's Fund Council of Europe European Economic Community Organization for European Economic Cooperation European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization International Commission of Agricultural Industries International Office of Epizootics International Vine and Wine Office Permanent International Bureau of Analytical Chemistry Associated Country Women of the World Commission of the Churches on International Affairs European Association for Animal Production European Confederation of Agriculture European Landworkers' Federation International Chamber of Commerce International Commission on Agricultural Engineering International Cooperative Alliance International Council of Women International Federation of Agricultural Producers International Federation of Christian Trade Unions International Union of Family Organizations World Union of Catholic Women's Organizations

A list of the delegates and observers and of the FAO staff in attendance is contained in the annex to this report, which lists also the officers of the Conference.

Opening of the Conference

The inaugural session was held on 10 October, when delegations were welcomed by the Director-General.

Mr. B.R. Sen recapitulated the events which had led to the convening of this Conference, first mooted at the last session of the Conference. The quality of the attendance was a proof that the European governments attached great importance to this undertaking. He anticipated that the hopes that had been placed in it would be fully justified and that the governments which had sent their delegations to Rome would appreciate the value of such conferences.

The Conference then proceeded to elect as its Chairman Mr. M. Cépède (France) and, in accordance with the usual procedure at FAO Regional Conferences, the heads of all delegations present were elected Vice-Chairmen. The Chairman and Vice-Chairmen constituted the Steering Committee which dealt with organizational matters of the Conference.

The Conference, on the proposal of the Steering Committee, adopted the following agenda:

- I. The relation of prospective developments in Europe to the current world situation and trends in the production and consumption of agricultural commodities.
- II. Assistance to less-developed countries.
- III. The Mediterranean Development Project.
- IV. Orientation and methods of work of the Organization in Europe.
- V. The Freedom from Hunger Campaign.
- VI. Other business.

Closing Session of the Conference

At its closing session the Conference adopted the text of the report in its present form.

The Chairman thanked delegations and observers for their attendance and for the valuable contributions to the discussion of all items of the agenda, and the Director-General and his Secretariat for the careful preparation and arrangements for the Conference.

The Director-General, Mr. B.R. Sen, then briefly addressed the session. Thanking the Chairman for his skillful guidance and delegations and observers for their participation, he could say without any hesitation that the Conference had more than fulfilled the expectations placed in it. He was glad that the working documents submitted had been found useful in the discussions, which on most items of the agenda had called for constructive thinking and criticism more than the undertaking of immediate action by governments and organizations. The Conference had paid special tribute to the paper on trends in European agriculture and their implications for other regions; for this credit must be given to the Economics group in Geneva working in collaboration with the secretatiats of the Economic Commission for Europe, the European Economic Community and the Organization for European Economic Cooperation.

Turning to other subjects, he said that the effective organization of assistance to the less developed countries was a problem on which the present discussions had served to focus attention. The conclusions and suggestions they contained would be of great value. It was also gratifying that the methods and objectives of the Mediterranean Development Project had been so well supported by the governments most concerned, this was a great encouragement to proceed with its implementation. The Freedom from Hunger Campaign, which had its sanction in the very Charter of FAO, was aimed primarily at creating the necessary public awareness of the problem; the support given at this Conference would

certainly soon bear fruit. He wished to pay special tribute to the important contribution being made by non-governmental organizations to the success of the Campaign.

In concluding, Mr. Sen expressed his certainty that any doubt concerning the value of such a conference as this had now been dissipated; provision would therefore be made for another such meeting, in 1962, in his next program of work and budget.

The closing session terminated at 1.30 p.m. on 15 October 1960.

SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS

1. Policy Statement by Mr. B.R. Sen, Director-General

Mr. Sen expressed his great pleasure in welcoming the delegates and his hope that the Conference would stregthen both their relations with this Organization and their participation in its European and world-wide activities which rely so largely on their support. Europe from its rich experience and many resources provided a substantial part of the Organization's finance and skilled personnel; it was also a focus of international trade in agricultural produce. In economic, in social and in technical fields, FAO needed to maintain particularly close contact with European governments.

The regional structure of the Organization had always been a matter of great importance as had been emphasized at the ninth and tenth Sessions He recalled that it had been hoped that the transfer of the Conference. of Headquarters to Rome would automatically reinforce contact with European countries; the FAO European Office, as such, had been abolished in 1951 and the idea of a regional conference dropped after the first meeting in Since then most activities in Europe had been carried out through 1948. special European bodies of FAO, such as the Commission on Agriculture and the Forestry Commission. Very useful relations had thus been established, as would be seen from the recommendations and proposals which would be discussed at the present Conference, and he hoped that the valuable work of these bodies at the technical level would continue. In the present phase of dramatic development in Europe there was, however, need for an organ to advise him at the highest policy levels, not only on the priority to be attached to the recommendations of the special technical bodies, but also on the whole orientation of the Organization's work in Europe, a topic Unnecessary duplication specifically included in the Conference agenda. and dispersion of effort in the international field must be avoided, but he would stress that duplication sometimes arose from a lack of understanding between governing bodies composed of delegates of the same governments. He believed that international organizations with wide fields of activity needed to be guided by the national policy-makers themselves, who can if necessary also adjust national policies in the interest of international co-operation.

In framing the agenda for the present Conference the Director-General had avoided issues falling within the terms of reference of the FAO technical European bodies, although such items are to be found in the agendas for Conferences in other regions where specialized technical bodies have not been established. He had however included the consideration of European agricultural problems in their world-wide perspective and of world problems of food and agriculture in their relation to Europe.

The first of those two discussions required an assessment of production and demand in the year-1965; as-far as it can be foreseen from present trends, and of the consequent effect on trade prespects and policy issues. This assessment, although it could not claim precision, seemed particularly necessary in view of the tendency to surplus production in some countries; it was therefore also necessary to relate the situation to world trends as a whole and to assess the use of surplusses to improve levels of nutrition, both in European and in less-developed countries.

Assistance by European governments to speed the development of less advanced regions was being intensified and multilateral assistance, though still on a more modest scale, was in the hands of a great many agencies. A major limiting factor was the lack of "technical know-how" as much as investment, and here the unequalled experience of FAO in the field of technical assistance might be put to greater use. This had been recognized by the UN Special Fund which had requested the Organization to act as its technical adviser and executing agent for agricultural The Conference was therefore now invited to discuss the projects. better coordination of European technical assistance, the capacity of European countries to supply expert personnel, and European facilities There were the further questions of for absorbing foreign trainces. training European personnel for technical assistance assignments and of organizing international training centers in Burope.

It must be emphasized that FAO technical assistance was not restricted to countries outside Europe, and economic development in Europe itself was less advanced in the region bordering the Mediterranean than elsewhere. This region fell within the scope of the FAO Mediterranean Development Project and it would be recalled that the tenth Session of the Conference had expressed the wish that member countries should explore, as a matter of urgency, ways to help in the achievement of the objectives of that project. The present Conference would have an opportunity to discuss the implementation of this Resolution and the Director-General's own proposals for future action.

The Director-General next outlined the objectives of the Freedomfrom-Hunger Campaign, touching on the present extent of malnutrition and under-nutrition and the rapid growth of the world's population. availability of food surplusses from more developed countries would make a valuable short-term contribution to the world's needs, but the key to the ultimate solution lay in promoting a far higher agricultural productivity in countries less developed. Their governments and peoples must enter upon a new dimension of national effort with the aid of international co-operation. The Freedom-from-Hunger Campaign had been devised to further this aim, with FAO as calyst and co-ordinator. Referring to the plan of campaign which he had laid before the tenth Session of the FAO Conference and the Trust Fund which had been set up, he felt obliged to say that the response from governments had been rather poor and that contributions from non-government sources had not yet got into full swing. From the industrial field there had been encouraging support for an international fertilizer program and an offer of 2,000 outboard motors,

with the necessary servicing facilities, for the mechanization of fishing boats. The need to set up National Campaign Committees was urgent, but here too the response of member governments had been disappointing and delays at this time were critical. He therefore urged action with all the emphasis at his command.

In conclusion, Mr. Sen said that the movement towards integration in Europe gave a special significance to this Conference and to the subjects to be discussed. He wished to develop with the European Economic Community, the European Free Trade Association and the Organization of European Cooperation and Development the excellent working relations FAO had enjoyed with the OEEC. In urging European governments to keep the development of world problems in view, he would add that they would not so much be acting in an altruistic manner as following the only safe policy. As never before, the world was one and the human problem involved was one also.

2. The relation of prospective developments in Europe to the current world situation and trends in the production and consumption of agricultural commodities.

The Conference considered the working paper "Trends in European Agriculture and their Implications for Other Regions", based on a larger Secretariat study "European Agriculture in 1965" which constituted a review of the prospects for the production and demand of agricultural production and demand of agricultural products in Europe, and in the preparation of which the Secretariat of the Economic Commission for Europe (ECE), the Organization for European Economic Cooperation (OEEC), and the European Economic Community (EEC) had co-operated.

The study summarized trends over the past decade as follows: There had been a continued increase in the scope of technical means utilized in European agriculture, particularly in the more industrialized countries, accompanied by a rapid increase in productivity per man and a large and continuing shift of agricultural workers to other sectors of the economy, and a growing volume of saleable farm products. In southern European countries, changes were similar, except that farm population did not decline. The larger output generally found an expanding market in general economies whose incomes were rising. Other studies showed that farmers' incomes lagged behind those of other occupations.

The findings of the working paper were based on the projection of such existing trends and the continuation of existing policies, but did not constitute forecasts. They also took into account projections of national income and of population, and assumed no major changes in public policies toward agriculture. There assumptions led to the conclusion that supplies could in general be expected to grow faster than demand. Expenditure on

food would increase less than national incomes, while farmers' receipts would rise less rapidly than consumer expenditures for food. The increase in net farm income would moreover not necessarily correspond to the increase in gross income. Recent experience had shown that, with the expanding use of many mechanical and chemical means, farm operating expenses were increasing faster than gross output. Moreover, projections made for production and demand of the principal agricultural commodities had suggested that there might be some weakening of the prices of those commodities, and that import demands, except for a possible increase for beef, would weaken or show no change. The latter development would tend to make it increasingly difficult for governments to implement policies for raising agricultural incomes to a level more nearly comparable with those in other occupations.

Taking all food and feed commodities competing with domestically grown European products together, imports into Western Europe might be expected either to decline, or at least to cover a smaller proportion of the higher requirements for these commodities by 1965. For imports of non-competing and some semi-competing feedstuffs, such as certain fruits, which are only partially affected, if at all, by the growth of European production, the domand (for those commodities taken together) was, in view of the likely increases in personal incomes, expected to rise-substantially during the next few years.

Within the time available, it had not been possible in all cases to obtain the views of governments on the study, and several delegates gave their personal reactions in the absence of considered views from their governments.

There was general agreement that this study provided a useful service to governments and should be taken into consideration in the shaping of national and international agricultural policies.

In the course of the discussion it was suggested however that policy changes and alterations to the structure of agriculture in various countries might well affect the assumptions on which the present projection of trends was based. It would therefore be necessary to review these projections periodically and FAO should again call upon the Secretariats of inter-governmental bodies in Europe for close co-operation in such Efforts being made within the framework of FAO/ECE to improve projection methods should also be continued. A certain number of delegations felt that efforts of governments to ensure farmers an income comparable to that in other sectors of the economy would require, in many countries, a further reduction in agricultural employment and a consolidation of undersized farms. Mentioned among the means for achieving this were the overall economic and industrial development of backward regions, the development of industrial enterprises in agricultural areas and the training of young people for non-agricultural occupations.

It was suggested by observers representing agricultural producers' organizations that, although farmers were prepared to accept the findings of the study as a realistic view of the situation, the extent to which non-agricultural occupations could become available and the means of

overcoming the many obstacles which prevent or slow down the transfer of labour out of agriculture were problems still to be solved. Moreover, the difficulties of the poorer people of the world could not be met by limiting agricultural production in Europe, but rather by utilizing its surplus products for their benefit. There was a vital need for an international food and farm policy.

The opinion was expressed that if production were to rise faster than demand, the necessary balance between agricultural incomes and incomes in other sectors of the economy would become more difficult to a achieve or maintain. The accomplishment of such aims might be further prejudiced by the emergence of burdensome surplusses. A number of delegations stressed, however, that countries should seek so to adjust agricultural production in Europe as to prevent the emergence of structural Attention was also drawn to the need for taking account of difficulties likely to arise in such a situation for countries, mainly small countries, which greatly relied on income derived from agricultural exports. It might therefore become necessary to re-examine existing support policies and to consider, for example, price guarantees on a limited part of the total production of a given product, but attention would also have to be given to the difficulties of a system of double-pricing in a market Among other means to be considered might be an increased economy. emphasis on quality production and the lowering of production costs.

It was recognized that variations in weather might produce occasional or temporary surplusses, which could be used to advantage in meeting emergency or short-term needs in less developed countries. At the same time it was recognized that there was a real possibility of structural or continuing surplusses arising in spite of efforts to adjust output. Some delegations expressed their unwillingness to reduce production, since any resulting structural surplusses might be disposed of for use in less developed countries. While such surplusees as might arise in Europe could be used in part in specific aid-programs, as for example milk in dried form, the major emphasis in using surplusees for disposal on noncommercial terms should be to help in financing expanded economic development, in line with earlier FAO recommendations for effective surplus disposal. The opinion was expressed that some solution should be found to avoid a situation in which the burden of such surplus disposal programs was unequally shared and fell unduly on the countries where the surplusses happened to be located.

While the expected increases in personal incomes in many European countries would lead to an increased demand for imports of tropical and semi-tropical products, their consumption could nonetheless be still further developed by a reconsideration of taxation policies. That this possibility should be explored was urged by several delegations.

3. Assistance to less developed countries

The Conference next considered the working paper which had been prepared on the above subject. Although the item was concerned mainly with assistance from European countries to less developed countries outside Europe it also was concerned, though to a more limited extent, with those countries within the European region which have underdeveloped areas. In this connection, the Conference took note of the assistance given by FAO to several of these countries in the fields of food, agriculture, forestry and fisheries, by way of experts and fellowships under the UN Expanded Technical Assistance Program and also as executing agency for Special Fund projects.

It was in the provision of technical assistance to the less developed countries of other regions, however, that the member countries of the European region played a major role, having for example supplied nearly two-thirds of ETAP experts allocated to field assignments in 1958, and having also acted as host to a great number of ETAP fellows. Some European countries provided a much larger volume of technical assistance under bilateral programs than under multilateral aid through the United Nations. The total contribution of the European countries in the form of technical and financial assistance was very considerable, even though it still fell short of the requirement for assistance in the less developed countries.

The Conference visualized continued assistance from the developed to less developed countries in the coming years, and further noted that if the various plans for increased aid which had already been announced by individual European countries, and by groups of such countries, matured, aid on a considerably greater scale would be made available in the future. Much of this additional aid would no doubt be in the form of additional funds for capital investment, but it might be hoped that a substantial part would be allocated for technical assistance, with a major share going to agriculture.

In those circumstances the Conference fully recognized the need for an optimum utilization of all available international funds for technical assistance - multilateral and bilateral - in agriculture, and for avoiding duplication and overlapping in the aid rendered by different agencies. It was also recognized that lack of technical "know-how", particularly in the field of agriculture, was as much a handicap as insufficiency of capital in achieving the initial take-off for self-sustained economic growth in the less developed countries.

There was considerable discussion on the various ways and means to avoid duplication of aid in agriculture, in particular concerning the extent to which FAO could be called upon to undertake this responsibility and the manner in which it could do so. It was generally agreed that, in respect of various funds outside FAO's jurisdiction, while policy decisions should be left to the respective administrative agencies responsible for the operation of such funds, FAO could function in an advisory capacity,

offering advice if and when called upon to do so, by the administrators of such funds or by the recipient countries, in regard to agricultural investment projects and also on the merits of specific projects.

Moreover, FAO could of course play an important role in securing a large degree of co-ordination, with the agreement of donor and recipient countries and of the organizations concerned, in the actual application and operation of the agricultural aid offered by various organizations as well as by individual countries under bilateral programs. The Conference noted that some countries have already established means for reconciliating their individual country programs with FAO's assistance activities in certain particular fields.

It was further agreed in this connection that FAO is the most suitable clearing house for information on world agriculture, and the Conference recommended that member countries utilize the valuable knowledge and experience of FAO in the problems of food and agriculture when implementing their individual or group technical assistance projects.

The Conference also gave some consideration to the possibility of a further expansion of technical assistance in the future, both in respect to the availability of experts from countries of the region and to the capacity of universities and other training institutions to absorb foreign technicians and trainess. In this connection, the need for an assessment of the technical manpower and training resources of the countries of the region was generally recognized, although some further consideration was thought, necessary to determine the best methods for such an assessment. The possibility was also noted of the allocation, by donor countries, of bilateral funds to allow the recruitment of experts from other countries able to supply such experts but unable to meet the cost of employing them on technical assistance assignments. A number of delegations reported the establishment of special institutions for trainees from loss developed countries and for their own future experts, namely: France, the Federal Republic of Germany, Israel, Italy, the Netherlands and Switzerland. Poland reported a proposal to set up an Institution for Human Nutrition which would be available for such training.

The Conference noted that another way of relieving the scarcity of technical experts is the holding of international training centers in European countries, and especially the establishment of <u>ad hoc</u> training institutes for specialized instruction in specific fields which are relevant to the needs of less developed countries. It was, however, pointed out that such institutions would not dispense with the need for short-term training centers. There should be room for different parallel lines of development. The need for setting up training institutes in the less developed countries with experts from the European region was also stressed.

Consideration was given to the training of specialists from the European region for future technical assistance assignments. In this connection, some delegations expressed the desirability of associating junior experts with senior FAO experts working in the field: experiments

carried out in the past had shown satisfactory results. Some stress was also laid on the quality of experts, their adaptability and, in particular, their capacity to establish the right human relationship with the people among whom they have to work. The value of close relations between FAO and the National FAO Committees, or other appropriate governmental bodies, in the selection of experts was emphasized.

The Conference fully recognized the need for the exchange of experience in the types of technical assistance work carried out by different agencies, and recommended that FAO should adopt suitable measures to collect information on various types of technical assistance in agriculture, and disseminate it among member governments. A subject of particular interest to a number of delegations was that adequate assessments should be made of the results obtained from technical assistance projects in connection with which their experts had served in less developed countries, or for which they had provided fellowship facilities. It was suggested that FAO should undertake this in the fields of food and agriculture.

Finally, the Conference requested the Director-General to transmit the Report of this Conference to the ECE Committee on Agricultural Problems and to consult with the Executive Secretary of the ECE on the possibility of discussing the problem of assistance to the economically less developed countries, also within the all-European framework of appropriate subsidiary bodies, which are jointly serviced by the Secretariats of the two organizations.

The Conference adopted the following resolution:

THE CONFERENCE

Recognizing

- a) that the need for all types of assistance from developed to less developed countries will continue and may expand in the future,
- b) that already a great deal of such assistance is now given by a number of countries of the European region, both through bilateral and multilateral programs (including the Expanded Technical Assistance Program and the United Nations Special Fund projects for which FAO acts as the executing agency), to less developed countries and territories outside the region and also, to a limited extent, to cortain countries within the region which have underdeveloped areas,

Noting that, in the field of agriculture, FAO has, through actual experience of the complexities of the problems of the world as a whole of different regions and even of individual countries, gained specially valuable experience,

Noting also that many governments have already expanded or are likely to expand all types of aid in agriculture, and that use will no doubt be made of the vast experience, accumulated knowledge and the service of FAO in the planning and realization of aid programs;

Recommends to Governments

- a) that in so far as possible they keep FAO informed of:
 - (i) available training facilities and their possible expansion
 - (ii) available experts and technicians, and facilities for their training
 - (iii) projects underway in less developed countries, and
- b) that they make available regularly to FAO, in so far as the countries concerned agree, technical and scientific data gathered and prepared by their experts in the fields related to food and agriculture in less developed countries: and

Requests the Director-General

- a) to establish means of exchange of experience in the various projects and on the types of technical assistance activities undertaken within and outside the European region,
- b) to offer advice and co-operate in research and survey projects for establishing essential data and the basis for recommendations concerning agricultural development in various less developed countries and regions,
- c) when specifically invited, and with the agreement of the countries and organizations concerned, to take such appropriate action as may lead to better co-ordination of technical assistance in agriculture undertaken by the countries and organizations in the European region, as well as by sources outside the region,
- d) to co-operate with the countries of the European region in expanding their capacity for providing experts through the training of specialists for future technical assistance assignments, either in existing universities or in special training institutes,
- e) to co-operate, as recommended by the 11th Session of the European Commission on Agriculture, in the proposed OMEC survey of training facilities as far as it relates to food and agriculture,
- f) to co-operate, in the light of the above survey, with countries of the European region in establishing ad hoc centers and institutes for the necessary theoretical and practical training of fellows from the less developed countries, in countries best suited for such training, and
- g) in order to facilitate the exchange of ideas and experience in various technical fields, and foster better understanding of underlying problems, to convene from time to time, in appropriate places, meetings of representatives of the less developed countries receiving assistance and of experts actually engaged in giving assistance in any one field of agriculture; and

Finally, the Conference requests that the Director-General report to the next FAO Conference in 1961 on progress made in respect of these recommendations.

With special reference to the training of personnel for technical assistance assignments, the Conference adopted the following further resolution:

THE CONFERENCE

Noting that the recruitment of experts in the field of food and agriculture for ETAP as well as for the UN Special Fund meets with difficulties because of the growing demand for such experts from developing countries,

Noting also that there has been an expansion in technical assistance programs and that they seem likely to expand further,

Recognizing that the full execution of the various programs of technical assistance is of primary importance for developed countries as well as for developing countries,

Fearing that unless member governments study ways and means to increase the availability of experts the program will be seriously hampered,

Drawing attention also to the valuable services rendered by associateexperts, usually trained in universities or equivalent higher institutes of education;

Requests Member Governments to give serious consideration to the possibility of making more experts and associate-experts available and,

Finally, invites the Director-General to explore, and make known to Member Governments, both the value of such associate experts and the possibility of employing in a somewhat similar capacity other personnel (not necessarily with university training) who have the knowledge and experience required in handling the day to day problems of specific fields of agriculture.

4. The Mediterranean Dovelopment Project

The Conference had before it a working paper on the progress of the Mediterranean Project subsequent to the 10th Session of the FAO Conference. This paper also outlined the intentions of the Secretariat for following up the action already taken and its proposals for future work in the implementation of the project. There had been an encouraging support in academic journals and the press. The governments of some of the European countries concerned had been able to establish "spearhead zones" in accordance with the project recommendations, with the support of the United Nations Special Fund and with FAO as executing agent. FAO had also assisted in promoting projects of a regional character under the auspices of the Mediterranean Forestry Sub-Commission and the Working Party on Mediterranean Pasture and Fodder Development.

Other regional projects are under consideration and co-operation with other international agencies is being promoted. In accordance with a resolution of the 10th Session of the Conference the Director-General intends to convene a Mediterranean Conference to discuss the Project Report and the implementation of its recommendations.

The Conference welcomed the proposed conference, agreeing that the problems that arise in connection with the Mediterranean Project are such that they need to be discussed at high policy levels and not only in their specific technical aspects. Agencies which are interested in promoting development should be represented.

The delegations of many of the countries of the European region most closely concerned stressed the importance of the integrated approach adopted in the Mediterranean Project towards the development of agriculture and forestry and towards their ec-ordination with other economic sectors. Such an approach is particularly necessary here in relation to the intense population pressure and the complex pattern of land use.

The delegations related the progress which had been made by their governments towards the implementation of the recommendations of the project. In Greece a Five Year Development Program was initiated which stressed the co-ordinated approach; in Turkey, the full utilization of manpower to restore the country was one of the main objectives of the new government; in Yugoslavia, the progress achieved in both agriculture and industry testified to the desirability of parallel development.

Several delegations emphasized the importance of co-ordination of national efforts with measures for international co-operation, including trade, technical assistance and finance, for which the Mediterranean Project Report provides a useful basis.

The value of an exchange of experience between countries of the Mediterranean region was also emphasized, particularly with respect to the spearhoad zones. The delegations of Spain, France and Italy expressed their country's readiness to share their experience of such zones with countries which were now establishing new zones, and the delegation of

Spain invited the other governments to visit and exchange views on the project in the Badajoz area.

The interest of European regional organizations such as the Economic Commission for Europe, the Council of Europe, the Organization for European Economic Cooperation and the European Association for Animal Production in this project, as in all projects for the development of the Mediterranean regions, was clearly apparent in the discussion.

The Conference then adopted the following resolution:

THE CONFERENCE

Expressing its satisfaction with the progress of the action taken by the Director-General in the implementation of the Resolution of the Tenth Session of the FAO Conference on the Mediterranean Development Project,

Considering that the Member Countries of FAO have an important role to play in assisting the governments of the countries concerned and the Director-General in implementing the aforesaid resolution;

Records its appreciation of the assistance given by the United Nations Special Fund in the prompt establishment of spearhead development zones under FAO auspices.

Invites the governments of the Southern European countries with which the Mediterranean Dovelopment Project report is specifically concerned to give due attention to the implementation of the proposals of the report particularly as regards the acceleration of investment programs in agriculture falling within the framework of the general development programs,

Invites in accordance with Resolution 17/59 passed at the Tenth Session of the FAO Conference, the European governments and the countries in other regions interested in promoting development, to give all due consideration to the ways and means in which they can assist the implementation of the above quoted resolution, and in particular by making concrete offers of technical and economic assistance.

Invites the Director-General to explore ways and means by which the planning of the spearhead development zones could be co-ordinated with that of zones already established under national auspices, and

Suggests as a follow-up action in accordance with the above quoted resolution of the Tenth Session of the FAC Conference, that the Director-General should convene in Rome in the spring of 1961, a Conference of the governments of the Mediterranean region, of the governments of adjoining territories in the Near East and Africa faced with similar problems, and of European and all other Member

Governments which can contribute to the work of the Conference, to discuss the economic and technical aspects of Mediterranean development with a view to exploring ways and means by which international co-operation in the area can be made more effective, particularly through the co-ordination of aid and of technical assistance.

5. Orientation and methods of work of the Organization in Europe

The Conference had before it a working paper on the above subject. In drawing up a work-program for FAO the participation of European governments is of special significance, for the work of FAO in the countries of the European region is not only of service to these countries, but also of great significance to countries in other regions. Since most countries of the European region are not recipients under the Technical Assistance Program FAO European activities relate principally to the Regular Program.

The working paper contained as an appendix a list of the various inter-governmental European bodies of FAO (European Commission on Agriculture, European Forestry Commission, European Inland Fisherics Advisory Commission) and of Mediterranean bodies (General Fisheries Council for the Mediterranean and the Joint Sub-Commission*on Mediterranean Forestry Problems) whose membership includes governments in the European region. The recommendations and suggestions made by these bodies and by their specialised subsidiary organs would, within their fields of competence, indicate very well the main interests and technical needs of countries The Conference for Europe afforded a very welcome of the region. opportunity to consider these proposals and suggestions as parts of a single balanced program for the European region, taking also into account the work carried out by the joint FAO/ECE Divisions. This Conference would also provide an opportunity for Momber Governments to express their views on the working methods employed by FAO, since they considerably influence the budgetary requirements for carrying out any such program or work.

The Conference felt that technical questions should be left to the existing European bodies of FAO and that is should itself deal primarily with matters of general policy.

While it was felt that FAO's major task was to serve the underdeveloped countries, it was also agreed that FAO's work in Europe, which had proved successful and useful to European countries and to countries in other regions, should certainly continue. The program of work of the Agriculture, Fishery and Forestry Commissions and their subsidiary organs received the general approval of the Conference. It was agreed that they should continue their work and should receive adequate support in the 1962/63 budget. The European bodies should concentrate their efforts on those matters of the highest priority within their fields of competence and avoid covering too many different subjects. There was general agreement that new permanent bodies should not be set up where ad hoc

^{*} dependent on the European Forestry Commission, the Near Esst Forestry Commission and the African Forestry Commission.
-K-7635

working parties would serve the purpose. Such ad hoc working groups should be dissolved upon the completion of their tasks.

The Conference expressed satisfaction with the work already done by the European Commission on Agriculture and with the general lines of the program suggested by it for FAO, in its own field of competence, for the next biennium. Some delegations suggested that more ample funds should be provided for the translation and publication of reports.

In the systematic exchange of scientific work, FAO could play a very important role by gathering and disseminating the information available in individual countries and some delegations expressed the wish for a closer working relationship between the national scientific and technical organizations of all European countries. The use of international seminars in appropriate fields should be given an important place among FAO's activities in Europe.

The 'enference attached the greatest importance to the study of co-operatives and the technical, occommic and social problems of small farms under prevailing conditions and considered that it should be given This latter project was regarded as of some urgency, as touching upon one of the main contemporary problems of European agri-The observer representig the International Federation of Agricultural Producers invited FAO to co-operate in the study of problems relating to vertical integration and mass production, with their implication for European agriculture and, in particular, their implications for the family farm. The matter was at present under study by the International Federation of Agricultural Producers, the Economic Commission for Europe and the European Productivity Agency of the Organization for European Economic Co-operation and early contact with these organizations could prevent duplication of efforts and elicit mutual support.

Some emphasis was placed on the need for closer attention to the fields of nutrition, home economics and improved working conditions for rural women. Other parts of the program of work suggested by the European Commission on Agriculture, also met with approval, such as rural sociology, the agricultural uses of atomic energy, animal and plant production, agricultural engineering, land improvement, soil conservation and cresion control, and the administration of pasture lands. It was stressed that on these two last items co-operation between the European Commission on Agriculture and the European Forestry Commission would be highly desirable.

The threat of new epizootic diseases - as for example African Horse Sickness which already affects two countries in the European region - was also discussed * and gave rise to a proposal that FAO should study the future possibility of operating an emergency fund to provide assistance in combating new outbreaks of infectious diseases or pests of economic importance to animals or plants.

The role of the European Commission on Agriculture in harmonizing

^{*} Sec page 23 below

the activities of international organizations within the field of agriculture in Europe was commended and encouraged. Co-operation between FAO and other international organizations, both governmental and non-governmental in the field of FAO's competence, in Europe was stressed. The existing relationship between FAO and the Economic Commission for Europe was quoted as an excellent example of harmonious co-operation.

The Conference approved the general lines of the program of work suggested by the European Forestry Commission. Particular stress was laid on the question of national forestry funds. The formation of such a fund may be necessary since re-afforestation can only be a long-term investment, requiring continuity of plan, and private investment cannot always provide sufficient capital or use proper methods for re-afforestation. The matter deserved high priority in the working program and should be put on the agenda at the next session of the European Forestry Commission.

Attention was drawn to the importance of a close co-ordination of the forestry and agricultural programs. The close working arrangements which have been established between the Executive Committee of the European Commission on Agriculture and the Board of the European Forestry Commission were welcomed and the holding of joint annual meetings of these two latter bodies should, therefore, be continued. It was suggested that the scope of work of the European Forestry Commission and its subsidiary bodies should not be further broadened but that the agendas of its meetings should be confined to a limited number of subjects.

Satisfaction was expressed with the activities of the European Inland Fishery Advisory Commission and the General Fisheries Council for the Mediterranean, and with their suggested programs of work. It was emphasized that activities should relate to problems and matters which are of interest to all or most of their member countries, such as the training of fishery technologists, the control of fishing, the development of fish culture and the control of water pollution, rather than to topics of interest to a few countries only. The exchange of documentation and the dissemination of information by FAO should be intensified.

The proposal of the General Fisheries Council for the Mediterranean to convene an international conference on tuna fishing and the prospects for its development was welcomed. A question was raised whether such bodies as the General Fisheries Council for the Mediterranean should not become independent bodies with independent finance and their own secretariats, as is now the case with other similar fishery bodies; such a procedure would lessen the workload and the financial burden on FAO. It was stressed, however, that even if this procedure were adopted, FAO support for research would still be indispensable.

The Conference then adopted the following resolution:

THE_CONFERENCE

Appreciating the work of the European and Mediterranean organs of FAO: (European Commission on Agriculture, European Forestry Commission, European Inland Fisheries Advisory Commission, the General Fisheries Council for the Mediterranean and the Joint Sub-Commission on Mediterranean Forestry Problems), and

Having considered how their work can best be continued;

Considers that in future the European Commission on Agriculture should, with the funds available, select problems within its competence which are of the greatest importance for European agriculture,

Considers that the above FAO organs should have more frequent recourse to ad hoc meetings of experts in order to avoid, as far as possible, the setting up of permanent subsidiary bodies in addition to those already existing;

Further considers that the increased use of consultants would add to the efficiency of their work in several fields;

Supports the general lines of activities proposed by the European organs of FAO, as well as those suggested by the Mediterranean organs as far as they affect Europe, with regard to the FAO program of work in Europe for 1962/63;

Transmits these proposals to the Director-General with the request that he take them into account in drawing up the program of work which he will submit to the Eleventh Session of the Conference, having due regard to the budgetary implications; and

Requests the Director-General, on the basis of the views expressed at this conference, to study the implications of European regional conferences on the structure of work within technical fields in Europe, and to report on this matter at a meeting of member governments of the European region to be held during the Eleventh Session of the FAO Conference.

6. Freedom from Hunger Campaign

The Conference considered a working paper on the development of the Freedom from Hunger Campaign.

The Conference reviewed the Campaign to date, its launching coremony and the attendant favourable response, the recommedations of a Conference of International non-governmental Organizations, and of an Advisory Committee, which that Conference had set up, as well as the research Sub-Committee of the Government Advisory Council. The Conference was informed of information activities, including publications issued and those in process as well as basic studies being prepared for educational purposes, and of several action programs. It had been difficult to respond to the initial enthusiasms generated by the Campaign, and further difficulties were foreseen due to lack of funds in providing continuing information and action. The Conference was informed of the present financial position of the Campaign Trust Fund.

In the discussion which followed all delegations and many observers participated. There was unanimous support for the Freedom from Hunger Campaign. In addition to the contributions already received from Denmark, Honduras, Ireland, the Netherlands, Pakistan and the United Kingdom, Austria pledged \$10,000 to the Campaign and the Federal Republic of Germany \$35,000, while Sweden, Switzerland, Italy, Norway, Spain, Balgium, France, Finland, Greece, Yugoslavia and Portugal announced that they had contributions under consideration. In addition, fund raising campaigns are to be organized in Austria, Denmark, Finland, Ireland, the Netherlands, Sweden and the United Kingdom.

The importance of co-ordinating efforts on the national level had been recognized and Committees were being set up for this purpose in Austria, Ireland, the United Kingdom, Norway, Denmark, France and Poland. In other countries National FAO Committees were carrying out the Campaign activities and special committees would be established if the necessity arose. All these national committees were endeavouring to obtain the sponsorship of outstanding personalities and to enlist the help of all organizations and persons willing to further the Campaign.

A number of countries, among them the Federal Republic of Germany, Norway, Denmark, Yugoslavia, Israel and Poland, pledged help for the Campaign within the framework of their bilateral assistance to underdeveloped countries or through UN channels. This included the making available of technical experience and of trained personnel.

It was felt that if the Campaign was to produce tangible results, and also to prevent later disappointments, it would be necessary to avoid an oversimplification of the problem itself. The Conference expressed the view that those responsible for policy decisions must be fully aware of the inherent complexities, particularly in the economic field.

The need was stressed for co-ordination in making the impact of the Campaign better felt. It was noted that the Scandinavian countries were consulting with each other on an integrated approach and even wider harmonization might be indicated.

The demand for information materials of all kinds including leaflets, brochures, posters and visual material was stressed by nearly all delegations; the help already given by FAO was recognized, but it would be necessary to stregthen its information activities to enable national organizations in their turn to produce material suited to their specific requirements. Underdeveloped countries should be encouraged to make film strips showing the nature of these problems and demonstrating possible solutions.

The sponsoring of action and research projects would depend on the public reaction to the Campaign in the various countries. The National Committees could help towards a realization of the problem and of the help that could be given by channelling information to interested organizations and individuals.

Representatives of both inter-governmental and non-governmental organizations pledged full support for the Campaign and offered a number of concrete suggestions.

The Director-General declared himself most heartened by the support so unanimously and enthusiastically expressed as well as by the pledges announced. This would encourage him and his colleagues. The numerous tasks which the Campaign was bringing in its train, the necessity for which was constantly stressed by all Conferences and meetings, demanded great efforts and much action. The Campaign continued to be hampered by lack of funds. The Director-General had been obliged to borrow personnel and to use unfilled posts in the Regular Program to carry out the most urgent and immediate assignments of the Campaign. Its scope and effectiveness would continue to depend on the means available.

The Conference adopted the following resolution: *

THE CONFERENCE

Expressing unanimous support of the Freedom from Hunger Campaign, and

Noting that the countries of the European region in the main possess technical skills, advanced research facilities and adequate resources;

Considers that the Campaign calls for special attention, leadership and support in the region,

Invites member governments of the region which have not already done so to establish at the earliest possible time strong, widely representative National Campaign Committees or equivalent effective machinery to plan, co-ordinate and encourage action at the national level,

Invites member governments in the region who have not already done so to give early consideration to furnishing, either by direct contribution or otherwise, adequate general Campaign expenses at the international and at the national levels, both currently and over the life of the Campaign;

Suggests that member governments in the region secure the formulation of National Programs, under the general co-ordination of FAO, best suited to carry forward Campaign objectives, and

Urges the Director-General to take, within the limits of the means at his disposal, all action required to implement the Freedom from Hunger Campaign and, especially in the field of information, to supply the national organizations for the Campaign with the material needed to arouse public awareness of the urgency of the problem.

^{*} The United Kingdom delegation, while reaffirming support for the Campaign, was unable to commit its Government to some of the implications of the above resolution.

7. Other business

(i) Food standards

On the proposal of a number of delegations, the Conference considered the problem of co-ordination presented by the growing number of food standards programs undertaken by many organizations. The desirability of international agreement on minimum food standards and related questions (including labelling requirements, methods of analysis, etc.) was recognized as an important means of protecting the consumer's health, of ensuring quality and of roducing trade barriers, particularly in the rapidly integrating market of Europe.

The position was clearly reflected in the interest shown in such activities as the joint FAO/WHO Program of Food Additives, the joint FAO/ECE programs on standards for perishable foodstuffs, and the FAO Code of Principles on milk and milk products. The recent formation of the European Council of the Codex Alimentarius with a valuable and farsceing program in which some twenty countries co-operated, was a further example of this trend.

The advantages to be obtained by integrating and simplifying the various projects under way and by evoiding the creation of new independent bodies were recognized, both as a measure of economy and as an effective mechanism for covering other food products as and when required. In view of the primary role of FAO in such programs and the need for collaboration with WHO where the health aspect is concerned, it was felt that a valuable step forward would be achieved if the Director-General of FAO, in collaboration with the Director-General of WHO and after consultation with the international governmental and non-governmental organizations active in this field, could submit to the 11th Session of the Conference proposals for a joint FAO/WHO program on food standards and associated requirements, with particular reference in the first instance to the principal foodstuffs offered for sale on the European market.

(ii) New Epizootics

The Conference was informed of the serious losses of horses in Turkey and the Near East Countries due to African Herse Sickness. This insect-borne virus disease has spread very rapidly through several of the countries in the Near East despite great efforts by countries in the region and limited assistance from FAO and other sources. The disease is causing a very high mortality, up to 95% of infected horses, and in some areas, particularly in Iran, Iraq, Turkey and the Syrian region of the U.A.R., the large number of draught animals lost will have a serious adverse effect on crop production.

The Conference was informed of the very serious risk of the disease spreading into Europe through the Balkan Peninsula in the near future. The disease being insect-borne, quarantine and normal sanitary measures

do not limit its spread as insects may be carried great distances by the wind, or other means such as transport.

FAO has assisted the countries affected by training personnel in diagnosis, field control and vaccine production, and also by the provision of some equipment and facilitating the procurement and distribution of There is every indication that there will be a temporary cessation of the infection during the winter months, but the disease will almost certainly appear again in all the infected countries in the spring of 1961 and unless mass vaccination is carried out in these countries in anticipation of the recurrence of the disease, it will almost certainly spread to other countries and probably into Europe. Countries in the Near East may not be in a position to carry out such mass vaccinations without outside help in the form of personnel, equipment and supplies. While limited funds were made available in 1960 from the TAB Contingency Fund for FAO assistance to the countries, it is unlikely that these funds could be made available in 1961 or be sufficient to meetall the needs which cannot be met by the affected countries. It was suggested that the Director-General, in consultation with the International Office for Epizootics, should contact European countries to investigate the possible provision of funds to meet this threatened invasion.

Attention was also drawn to the serious epizootic of African Swine Fever in Spain and Portugal which, up to date, has been controlled by a "slaughter out policy" which is at present the only effective method of control involving more than 50,000 pigs. The Conference was warned of the possibility of this disease spreading in Europe with consequent serious economic loss.

The appearance of these diseases hitherto unknown in these areas, with the resultant heavy losses to agriculture, gave rise to the suggestion that consideration be given to the establishment of an emergency fund for the purpose of assisting any country in controlling and limiting the spread of new outbreaks of diseases or pests to livestock and plants. It was also suggested that the Director-General might place this matter for consideration before the Council at its next Session.

SUMMARY OF RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED BY THE CONFERENCE

(a)	Resolutions recommending action by Governments						
	On technical assistance to less developed countries, — to inform FAO of training facilities, availability of experts, projects underway and technical data obtained — to make more experts and associate experts available	.14					
	On the Mediterranean Development Project, to promote the implementation of its proposals p. 16						
	On the Freedom from Hunger Campaign, to support the campaign and to promote the formulation of national programs p. 22						
(b)	Resolutions recommending action by Director-General						
	On technical assistance to less developed countries,— to promote exchange of experience — to co-operate in surveys for agriculture development — to co-ordinate projects when requested — to promote training of experts and fellows — to co-operate with OEEC in the survey of training facilities — to convene meetings of experts and the representatives of recipient countries on specific topics pp. 12-	-14					
	to study further the employment of associate experts and technicians						
	On the Mediterranean Development Project, to co-ordinate planning of "spearhead" zones with zones established under national plans to convene a conference to discuss economic and technical aspects of Mediterranean development						
	On the Freedom from Hunger Campaign — to proceed with						

ANNEX 1

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Delegations of Member Governments

AUSTRIA

Head of delegation:

Rudolf Leopold
Departmental Chief
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry
Vienna

Delegates:

Walter Greil
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry
Vienna

Maximilian Pammer Departmental Chief, Ministry of Interior, Vienna

Associates:

Karl Haas

Secretary of the Austrian Foreign Trade Office Rome

Mrs. Elisabeth Burian Rome

BELGIUM

Chef de la delégation:

de Vleeschauwer van Brackel Ministre de l'Agriculture Bruxelles

BELGIUM (cont'd)

Délégués:

Philippe d'Otreppe Président du Comité National de la FAO Ministère de l'Agriculture Bruxelles

R. Kinget Ministère de l'Agriculture Bruxelles

Associé:

L. van den Moortel Cabinet du Ministre de l'Agriculture Bruxelles

DENMARK

Head of Delegation:

Viggo Andersen
Agricultural Counsellor
Ministry of Agriculture
Copenhagen

Delegates:

Kristen Skovgaard
Professor, Royal Veterinary
and Agricultural College
Copenhagen

C. Valentin Hansen Agricultural Attaché Royal Danish Embassy Rome

Alternates

H.J. Kristensen
Assistant Head of Section
Ministry of Agriculture
Copenhagen

FINLAND

Head of Delegation:

Einari Jaakkola Minister of Agriculture Helsinki

Delegates:

Eero Korpela

Managing Director

Central Federation of

Agricultural Producers

Helsinki

Taneli Kekkonen
First Secretary
Embassy of Finland
Rome

FRANCE

Chef de la délégation:

Michel Cépède
Président du Comité Français interministériel de l'Alimentation et de l'Agriculture
Paris

Délégués:

R. Braconnier
Directeur Général honoraire du
Ministère de l'Agriculture
Paris

Henri Janton Contrôleur d'Etat au Ministère des Finances et des Affaires Economiques Paris

Jean de Vaissière Inspecteur Général de l'Agriculture Paris

Georges Gaucher Conseiller d'Ambassade Représentant permanent du Government Français auprès de la FAO, Ambassade de France Rome

FRANCE (cont'd)

Adjoints

Jean Wouters Attaché agricole Ambassade de France Rome

GERMANY (Federal Republic of)

Head of Delegation:

Hermann Martinstetter
Deputy Director
Foreign Trade Division
Federal Ministry of Food,
Agriculture and Forestry
Bonn

Delegate:

Justus Rohrbach
Senior Counsellor
Head of FAO-Bureau
Federal Ministry of Food,
Agriculture and Forestry
Bonn

Advisors:

Ewald Rosenbrock
Deputy Director
Federal Ministry of Food,
Agriculture and Forestry
Bonn

Singfried von der Rocke Senior Counsellor Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Forestry Bonn

Miss Irone Haas
Counsellor
Federal Ministry of Food,
Agriculture and Forestry
Bonn

Wilhelm Rauhut
Agricultural Attaché
Embassy of the Federal Republic
of Germany
Rome

GERMANY (Federal Republic of) (cont'd)

Herbert Kötter
Teacher at Bonn University
Secretary of the Research Institute
for Agricultural Policy and Sociology
Bonn

Hans Joachim Scharmer Counsellor, Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Forestry Bonn

GREECE

Head of Delegation:

Lambros Eutaxias former Minister of Agriculture Member of Parliament Athens

Delegate:

John Paleologue
Director-General
Ministry of Agriculture
Athens

IRELAND

Delegate:

Daniel J. Buckley
Assistant-Secretary
Department of Agriculture
Dublin

ISRAEL

Head of Delegation:

Moshé Dayan
Minister of Agriculture
Ministry of Agriculture
Tel Aviv

Delegate:

Aryé Amir Assistant Director-General Ministry of Agriculture Tel Aviv

ISRAEL (cont'd)

Associates:

Aharon Remez
Director, Division for
International Assistance
Ministry of Foreign Affairs
Jerusalem

Aviezer Chelouche Director, Division for Western Europe Ministry of Foreign Affairs Jerusalem

Gad Elron
First Secretary
Embassy of Israel
Rome

ITALY

Chef de la délégation:

Mariano Rumor Ministre de l'Agriculture et des Forêts Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

Délégué:

G.U. Papi

Recteur magn. de l'Université de Rome Secrétaire général, Comité National Italien de la FAO Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

Suppléants:

R. Chelini.

Inspecteur général, Direction générale de la production agricole Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

Mario Lariccia
Directeur de Division, Direction générale
de l'Alimentation
Ministero dell'Agricoltura o delle Foreste
Rome

-K-7635

ITALY (cont'd)

Mario Profili

Counseiller d'Ambassade Rappresentante del Ministero Affari Esteri Rome

D. Lucattini

Inspecteur, Direzione Generale della Tutela Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

G.P. Robustelli

Comité national italien de la FAO Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

A. Ferone

Bureau des relations extérieures Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

L. Tozzi

Comité national italien de la FAO Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

Vittorio de Asarta

Comité national italien de la FAO Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

Miss Elena Mammone

Comité national italien de la FAO Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

Tommaso Manieri

Secrétaire, Comité national italien de la FAO Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

Innocenzo Patrizi

Comité national italien de la FAO Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

Alfonso Froncillo

Directeur de Section, Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle Foreste Rome

LUXIMBOURG

Délégué:

Mathias Gillen
Directeur honoraire de l'administration des services
agricoles de l'Etat
Luxembourg

NETHERLANDS

Hoad of Delegation:

J.A.P. Franke
Director-General of Food
Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
The Hague

Dolegate:

F.L.A. Maandag Inspector of Agriculture Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries The Hague

Associates:

C.C.L.J.M. Eygenraam Agricultural Attaché Royal Netherlands Embassy Romo

A.R. van Motman
Liaison Officer for FAO Affairs
General Affairs Division
Agriculture Department
Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
The Hague

NORWAY

Delegate:

Rasmus Mork Chairman, National Mutrition Council Norwegian FAC Committee Vollebekk

Associate:

Arne Löchen Secretary-General National Nutrition Council Oslo

-K-7635

NORWAY (cont'd)

Alternate:

Thorleif Paus Counsellor Embassy of Norway Rome

POLAND

Head of delegation:

Józef Okuniewski Vice-Minister of Agriculture Ministry of Agriculture Warsaw

Delegates:

Stefan Królikowski Chairman, Polish National FAO Committee Warsaw

Mieczyslaw Birecki Professor, High College of Agriculture Warsaw

Zygmunt Warycha
Director, Ministry of Agriculture
Warsaw

Bronislaw Lisowski Deputy Director Ministry of Foreign Affairs Warsaw

J. Szwalbe Counsellor, Committee of Economic, Scientific and Technical Collaboration with Foreign Countries Warsaw

Mrs. Krystyna Piotrowska-Hochfeld Second Secretary, FAO Liaison Officer Polish Embassy Rome

PORTUGAL

Delegate:

Francisco Manoel de Vilhena Director of Extension Services Agricultural Secretariat, Ministry of Economics Lisbon SPAIN

Jefe de la Delegación:

Eladio Asensio Villa Secretario-General del Comité nacional espanol FAC Ministerio de Agricultura Madrid

Delegado:

Miguel Echegaray
Presidente del Instituto Nacional
de Investigaciones Agronomicas
Madrid

Suplentes

Nicolas Martin Alonso Consejero de la Embajada Embajada de España Romo

Guillermo Escardo Agregado agronomo Embajada de España en Italia Rome

SWEDEN

Head of delegation:

Gösta Netzén Minister of Agriculture Stockholm

Delogates:

H. Håkansson Director, Federation of Swedish Farmers' Associations Stockholm

Clacs Senning
First Secretary, Ministry of Agriculture
Stockholm

Eric Virgin Counsellor, Swedish Embassy Rome

SWITZERLAND

Chof de la délégation:

A. Kauter

Sous-Directeur de la Division de l'Agriculture Département fédéral de l'économie publique Berne

Délégués:

G. Bonnant Conseiller d'Ambassade 1er Adjoint au Département politique fédéral Berne

R. Juri, ing.agr.
Directeur de l'Union suisse des paysans
Brougg/AG

TURKEY

Chef de la délégation:

Osman Tosun Ministre de l'Agriculture Ankara

Associés:

Akif Cakman Ministère de l'Agriculture Ankara

Ali Hikmet Alp Premier secrétaire Ambassade de Turquie Rome

Necdet Ilci
Premier Secrétaire
Ambassade de Turquie
Rome

UNITED KINGDOM

Head of delegation:

Ronald Wall
Under-Secretary
Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food
London, S.W.1.

Alternates

Leslie Tolladay
Higher Executive Officer
Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food
London, S.W.1.

YUGOSLAVIA

Chef de la délégation:

Milovan Marković Secrétaire d'Etat adjoint pour l'Agriculture et les Forêts Belgrade

Délégué:

Joseph Zmaić
Président de l'Union des Fermes d'Etat de Croatie
Député de la Chambre Nationale
Zagreb

Denès Vajs Consciller au Secrétariat d'Etat aux Affaires étrangères Belgrade

Observers

Observers of other Member Governments

ARGENTINA

Carlos Correa Avila Consejero economico en Italia y Delegado permanente ante la FAO Embajada de Argentina Rome

AUSTRALIA

Henry K.H. Cook Commercial Counsellor Australian Embassy Rome

BRAZIL

Arizio de Viana Minister for Economic Affairs Brazilian Embassy Rome

CANADA

Maxwell Scott Strong First Secretary Canadian Embassy Rome

COLOMBIA

Néstor Madrid
Delegado permanente FAO
Embajada de Colombia
Rome

JΛPAN

Ryuichi Iwashita First Secretary Agricultural Attaché Japanese Embassy Rome

LEBANON

Sami Sanioddine
Ingénieur agricole
Chef du Service de la production
Ministère de l'Agriculture
Beyrouth

UNITED ARAB REPUBLIC

Samy Sabot Second Secretary UAR Embassy Rome

Mahmoud Abd El Aty Commercial Counsellor UAR Embassy Rome

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

H. Gardner Ainsworth Counsellor of Embassy for Economic Affairs United States Embassy Rome

Mrs. Ursula H. Duffus Second Sccretary of Embassy United States Embassy Rome

URUGUAY

Anibal Alzaga 1er Secretario de la Embajada del Uruguay Rome

Permanent Observer

HOLY SEE

Emilio Bonomelli Director of Pontifical Villas Castelgandolfo, Italy

Walter Persegati Secretary to the Permanent Observers of the Holy See to FAO Rome

United Nations and Specialized Agencies

Eugène Chossudovsky
Assistant to the Executive Secretary of the
Economic Commission for Europe
Geneva

H. Jacoby
Division of Agriculture FAO/ECE
Geneva

David Music
Division of Agriculture FAO/ECE
Geneva

INTERNATIONAL BANK FOR RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT

John D. Miller Special Representative in Europe Paris

C. de Beaufort Paris

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

D.O. Hasenbring
Regional Officer for Social Health
and Medical Care
Copenhagen

UNITED NATIONS CHILDRENS FUND

Mrs. Vera Amoroso d'Onofrio Amministrazione per le Attività Assistenziali Italiano e Internazionali Ufficio UNICEF Rome

Governmental Organizations

COUNCIL OF EUROPE

Lucifero d'Aprigliano Député Président de la Commission de l'Agriculture Strasbourg, France

A. Guitton Député Vice-Président de la Commission de l'Agriculture Strasbourg, France

COUNCIL OF EUROPE (cont'd)

Sir Anthony Esmonde
Deputy of the Irish Parliament
Vice-Chairman, Agricultural Committee
St. Osmonds, Gorey, Ireland

Jean Sourbet
Député, ancien Ministre de l'Agricultur
Paris

Pierre Bourgoin Député Membre de la Commission de l'Agriculture Strasbourg, France

Peter Jacobs
Member of Bundestag
Trier, Germany

Franz Seidl
Member of German Bundestag
Bonn

A. Vaudoyer Secrétaire de la Commission de l'Agriculture Strasbourg, France

Alfred Bethge
Economic Division of the Secretariat-General
Strasbourg, France

EUROPEAN ECONOLIC COMMUNITY

Sicco Mansholt Vice-Président de la Commission Bruxelles

G.V.Dal Pero Bertini
Division des organisations internationales
gouvernamentales de l'agriculture
Bruxelles

Giacinto de Thomasis Conseiller au Secrétariat du Conseil de la CEE Bruxolles

ORGANIZATION FOR EUROPEAN ECONOMIC COOPERATION

Hans Itschner
Acting Director for Agriculture and Food
Paris

B.L. Rowan

Head of Division for Productivity and Technical Action in Agriculture and Food OEEC/EPA
Paris

EUROPEAN AND MEDITERRANEAN PLANT PROTECTION ORGANIZATION

I. Granhall
Director-General
Paris

INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF AGRICULTURAL INDUSTRIES

K. Kállay Rome

INTERNATIONAL OFFICE OF EPIZOOTICS

René Vittoz Directeur Paris

Aldo Ademollo
Inspecteur général des services vétérinaires
Ministero della Sanità
Rome

INTERNATIONAL VINE AND WINE OFFICE

Eladio Asensio Villa Madrid

PERMANENT INTERNATIONAL BUREAU OF ANALYTICAL CHEMISTRY

A.M. Leroy

Non-governmental Organizations

ASSOCIATED COUNTRY WOMEN OF THE WORLD

Mrs. Maria Bencivenga Confederazione Nazionale Coltivatori Diretti Rome

COMMISSION OF THE CHURCHES ON INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

Rudolph Kunett Consultant Geneva

John D. Metzler Consultant Geneva

EUROPEAN ASSOCIATION FOR ANIMAL PRODUCTION

A.M. Leroy Président Paris

K. Kállay General Secretary Rome

EUROPEAN CONFEDERATION OF AGRICULTURE

M. Collaud
Secrétaire général
Brugg/AG
Suisse

EUROPEAN LANDWORKERS' FEDERATION

Francis Robinson Utrecht Netherlands

INTERNATIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

Loris Antonio Carreri Rome

Enrico Crostarosa Head, Technical Services of the Italian Section Rome

INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON AGRICULTURAL ENGINEERING

Luigi Sebastiano Rizzo Scuola Nazionale di Meccanica Agraria Rome

INTERNATIONAL COOPERATIVE ALLIANCE

Mario Appierto Rome

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF WOMEN

Mrs. Luciana Corcos Paris

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCERS

Ottar Bergflødt European Officer Paris

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF CHRISTIAN TRADE UNIONS

E. Machielsen
Secrétaire général
Fédération internationale des syndicats
chrétiens d'ouvriers agricoles
Bruxelles

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF FAMILY ORGANIZATIONS

G. Carrara Paris

WORLD UNION OF CATHOLIC WOMEN'S ORGANIZATIONS

Mlle Maria Carosi Consultanto permanente de l'Union mondiale auprès de la FAO Rome

FAO Bodies

COUNCIL OF FAO

L. Maire Independent Chairman

EUROPEAN COMMISSION ON AGRICULTURE

R. Braconnier Président

EUROPEAN FORDSTRY COMMISSION

Sanchez Herrora Vice-Président

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

B.R. Sen Director-General

Norman Wright
Deputy Director-General

F.W. Parker
Assistant Director-General
Technical Department

M. Veillet-Lavallée Assistant Director-General Department of Public Relations and Legal Affairs

M. Ezokiel Head, Economics Department

W.H. Pawley
Officer in Charge, Program and Budgetary Service
Director-General's Office

M. Autret
Director
Nutrition Division

E. Glesinger Director Forestry and Forest Products Division

K.V.L. Kesteven
Director
Animal Production and Health Division

C.H. Weitz Coordinator, Freedom from Hunger Campaign

ANNEX 2

OFFICERS OF THE CONFERENCE

Mr. M. Cépède (France) presided over the Conference.

Messrs. V. Andersen (Denmark), E. Asensio Villa (Spain), D.J. Buckley (Ireland), M. Dayan (Israel), Ph. d'Otreppe (Belgium), F.M. de Vilhena (Portugal), L. Eutaxias (Greece), J.A.P. Francke (Netherlands), M. Gillen (Luxembourg), E. Jaakkola (Finland), A. Kauter (Switzerland), R. Leopold (Austria), H. Martinstetter (Federal Republic of Germany), M. Marković (Yugoslavia), R. Mork (Norway), G. Netzén (Sweden), J. Okuniewski (Poland), G.U. Papi (Italy), O. Tosun (Turkey), R. Wall (United Kingdom) were Vice-Chairmen of the Conference.

The Chairman and the Vice-Chairmen constituted the Steering Committee which dealt with organizational matters of the Conference.

Dr. I. Moskovits, Liaison Officer for Europe, in the Program Liaison Branch, Program and Budgetary Service, was the Secretary of the Conference. Mr. F. George, Program Liaison Branch, Program and Budgetary Service, Dr. E.H. Hartmans, Technical Department, Office of the Assistant Director-General, and Mr. H. Jacoby, Acting Head of the FAO/ECE Agriculture Division acted as Assistant-Secretaries. In their work, they were assisted by Mr. Truman Peebles, Department of Public Relations and Legal Affairs, Dr. P.K. Ray, Program Research and Evaluation Branch, Program and Budgetary Service, Mr. I.H. Ergas, Economic Analysis Division, and Dr. R.C. Fortunescu, Operations Officer, Freedom from Hunger Campaign.